IN THE UNI TED STATES COURT OF APPEALS
FOR THE FI FTH Cl RCU T

No. 94-10978
(Summary Cal endar)

UNI TED STATES OF AMERI CA,
Pl ai ntiff-Appellee,

ver sus

JIMM E RI CHARD W LBOURN,

Def endant - Appel | ant.

Appeal fromthe United States District Court
for the Northern District of Texas
(7:93-CV-150- X(7:92-CR-001- X))

( July 10, 1995)

Before DUHE, WENER and SM TH, Circuit Judges.
PER CURI AM *

Def endant - Appellant Jimme Richard WIbourn, a federal

prisoner, appeals fromthe district court's denial of his post-

“Local Rule 47.5 provides: "The publication of opinions that
have no precedential value and nerely decide particul ar cases on
the basis of well-settled principles of |aw inposes needless
expense on the public and burdens on the legal profession.™
Pursuant to that Rule, the Court has determ ned that this opinion
shoul d not be publi shed.



conviction notion filed pursuant to 28 U S C § 2255,
Specifically, WIbourn conplains that his plea of gquilty was
i nvoluntary, that the sentencing court erred in relying on hearsay
evi dence at sentencing, that he received i neffective assi stance of
counsel at rearraignnment and sentencing, and that he was
erroneously denied credit for tine served while released on bond
prior to sentencing. The governnent has filed a notion to
suppl enent the record. Finding no reversible error by the district
court, we affirmits denial of post-conviction relief; and we deny
t he government's notion as unnecessary.
I
FACTS AND PROCEEDI NGS

W | bourn pleaded guilty to a supersedi ng i nformati on chargi ng
hi mwi th one count of possessing a flask with intent to manufacture
a controlled substance, in violation of 21 U S.C. 8§ 843(a)(6) and
(c). He was sentenced to a termof inprisonnent of 48 nonths, and
his sentence was affirned on direct appeal.

W bourn filed a notion in the district court to vacate, set
aside, or correct sentence, arguing that the district court
violated Fed. R Crim P. 11 by failing to advise him of the
mandatory m ni rum and maxi mum penalties, the consequences of his
guilty plea, and the nature of the charge and circunstances of the
of fense. W/l bourninsisted that the district court never expl ai ned
that it would consider conduct charged in the di sm ssed indictnent
when sentencing him for the crinme charged in the superseding

indictnent. W1 bourn al so contended that the factual basis for his



pl ea was never established and that he was entitled to a credit for
time served while rel eased on bond under 18 U . S.C. 8§ 3585(b)(1).

Wl bourn filed an anended, supplenental, and restated notion
in the district court in which he raised additional issues in
connection with that court's conpliance with Fed. R Cim P.
32(a). He contended that the district court had failed to
ascertain whether he had personally read the presentence report,
denied himthe right of allocution, and failed to make findings
resol ving di sputed i ssues of fact. W ]I bourn al so asserted that the
district court violated Rule 11 by failing to advise himthat he
woul d be sentenced under the quidelines. Further, W1 bourn
requested specific performance of the plea agreenent which he
al | eged had been breached by the governnent when it sought to have
hi m sentenced for conduct that had been charged in the dism ssed
i ndi ct nent . Finally, W1Ibourn contended that he had received
i neffective assistance of trial counsel because his attorney had
failed to (1) object to the Rule 11 and Rule 32 violations,
(2) object in the district court to that court's failure to award
a downward adjustnment in offense level for acceptance of
responsibility, (3) explain the effect of the sentencing
gui delines, and (4) advise himthat he was subject to a nandatory
m ni mum sent ence.

The district court denied the post-conviction notion, and
Wl bourn tinely appeal ed. The district court permtted Wl bournto

proceed in forma pauperis (IFP) on appeal.




|1
ANALYSI S

A. Vol unt ari ness of Pl ea

Wl bourn contends for the first tinme on appeal that the
governnent destroyed "all evidence" prior to the rearrai gnnent.
Gven the lack of evidence of his quilt, WIbourn argues, the
district court violated his Fifth Arendnent right to due process by
accepting his guilty plea. W will not consider issues raised for
the first tinme on appeal "unless they involve purely |egal
questions and failure to consider them would result in nmanifest

injustice." Varnado v. Lynaugh, 920 F.2d 320, 321 (5th Gr. 1991)

(internal quotations and citation omtted).

Wl bourn stipulated that officers found three round-bottom
triple-neck flasks and other equi pnrent and chemcals used in the
manuf act ure of anphet am ne and phenyl acetone, al ong with quantities
of anphetam ne and phenyl acet one, when they executed a warrant to
search a storage |locker. WIbourn's fingerprint was found on one
of the flasks. WIbourn admtted that he had rented the storage
| ocker and that he had possessed the flasks with the intent to
manuf act ur e anphet am ne and phenyl acet one.

Bef ore accepting Wlbourn's guilty plea at the rearrai gnnent,
the district court asked WI bourn whether he understood that the
governnent would bear the burden of proving at trial that he
knowi ngly and i ntentionally possessed the flasks and that he did so
with the intent to manufacture a controlled substance. WI bourn

answered, "Yes, sir, but | have not seen a triple-neck, three-



bottomflask or a picture of one. 1'd Ilike to be shown one as part
of the evidence." The governnent disclosed at that tinme that the
fl ask had been destroyed by the chem cal destruction team and that
no phot ographs were taken of the flask. The district court asked
W bourn, "Well, what do you want to do? Do you want to accept the
governnent's version?" to which WIbourn responded, "Yeah." The
district court then found that there was a factual basis for
Wl bourn's guilty plea.

Wl bourn stipulated to the facts underlying his guilty plea,
and clearly understood that the flask had been destroyed prior to
his entry of his guilty plea. The governnent coul d have proved the
exi stence of the flask through the testinony of the investigating
of ficers. Qur refusal to consider for the first tinme on appea
whet her W1l bourn's due process rights were viol ated by destruction
of the flask prior to the rearraignment will not result in a

mani fest injustice. See Varnado, 920 F.2d at 321.

Wl bourn also argues that failure to produce the flask or a
picture of the flask deprived himof his Sixth Arendnent right of
confrontation; however, a valid guilty plea waives a defendant's

confrontation rights. See Boykin v. Alabama, 395 U S. 238, 243

(1969) (noting that a guilty plea involves the waiver of three
i nportant constitutional rights: the privil ege agai nst conpul sory
incrimnation, the right to a jury trial, and the right to
confrontation). Under Boykin, the waiver of these rights nust be
reflected on the record. "This Circuit has repeatedly held that a

specific express articulation and waiver of the three rights



mentioned in Boykin is not mandated, but that it is necessary for

the record to show that the plea was voluntarily and intelligently

given." Neyland v. Blackburn, 785 F.2d 1283, 1287 (5th Gr.),

cert. denied, 479 U. S. 930 (1986). Although the district court did

not expressly advise WIbourn that he would be waiving his
confrontation right by entering a guilty plea, the plea colloquy
reflects that WI bourn was asked whet her he was willing to proceed
with his gquilty plea, notwithstanding the inability of the
governnment to produce the flask--did he want to "accept the
governnent's version?" Qur reading of the record reflects that
Wl bourn's guilty plea was voluntarily and intelligently given.

B. Hear say at Sent enci ng

Wl bourn contends that the probation officer relied on
"ex parte docunents" and hearsay evidence to i ncrease his guideline
level froml1l2 to 28, in violation of his confrontation rights under
the Sixth Anendnent. |In the district court, WI bourn argued that
he should not have been punished for conduct that had not been
charged in the superseding information.! The quantity of drugs at
i ssue, W1 bourn argued, was not established by the factual resune.

The district court held that this issue was decided on direct

' WIbourn's base offense |evel was determ ned by applying
the drug quantity table in U S S.G 88 2D1.1 and 2Dl1.12 to the
anount of controlled substances that could have been produced by
the chem cals and equi pnent that were found in the storage unit.
As the resulting i nprisonnent range exceeded t he statutory nmaxi num
W | bourn was sentenced to the statutory maxi mum sentence of four
years. As the guidelines allow for consideration of relevant
conduct of which the defendant has not been convicted, we rejected
on direct appeal WIbourn's argunent that the district court erred
i nusing rel evant conduct that was related to t he charges contai ned
in the dism ssed counts of the superseding indictnent.
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appeal .

[A] defendant's confrontation rights at a
sentenci ng hearing are severely restricted. A
court may rely wupon uncorroborated hearsay
t esti nony, and even on an out-of-court
statenent by an unidentified informant (at
| east where there is good cause for not
allowing confrontation and there is sone
addi tional corroboration of the statenent).

United States v. Rodriquez, 897 F.2d 1324, 1328 (5th Cr.)

(internal citations omtted), cert. denied, 498 U S. 857 (1990).

W do not reach the question whether the district court could
properly adopt findings in a PSR that were based on hearsay
evi dence because the objection is raised for the first tinme on
appeal and because the "good cause" conponent of Rodriguez shows
that the issue raises questions that are not "purely |egal."
Var nado, 920 F.2d at 321.

C. | neffecti ve Assi stance of Counsel

W bourn also clains that he received ineffective assistance
of trial counsel. To prove that his counsel was ineffective
Wl bourn nust show that his attorney's perfornmance was deficient
and that the deficient performance prejudiced his defense.

Strickland v. Wshington, 466 U S. 668, 687 (1984). To show

deficient performance, WIbourn nust overcone the "strong
presunption that counsel's conduct falls within the w de range of
reasonabl e professional assistance." 1d. at 689. 1In the context
of a guilty plea, the "prejudice" requirenent "focuses on whet her
counsel's constitutionally ineffective performance affected the

outcone of the plea process.” HilIl v. Lockhart, 474 U S. 52, 59

(1985). W/ bourn "nust showthat there is a reasonabl e probability
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that, but for counsel's errors, he would not have pleaded guilty
and woul d have insisted on going to trial." 1d. In the context of
sentencing matters, prejudice on an i neffective-assistance claimis
met if "there [wal]s a reasonable probability that but for tria
counsel's errors the [petitioner]'s non-capital sentence woul d have

been significantly |l ess harsh.” Spriqggs v. Collins, 993 F.2d 85,

88 (5th Gr. 1993) (footnote omtted). A court need not address
both conponents if the petitioner nmakes an insufficient show ng on

one. Strickland, 466 U. S. at 697.

W | bourn argues for the first tinme on appeal that his attorney
erred in allowng himto plead guilty despite the destruction of
the evidence against him and in failing to allow himto cross-
exam ne his accusers. W/I bourn argues that the governnent never
presented witnesses to testify about the contents of the storage
| ocker and did not disclose to the district court that a governnent
i nformant shared the storage | ocker with W1 bourn.

H's argunent fails the first prong of the Strickland test.

The destruction of the flasks would not have prevented the
governnent fromcarrying its burden of proof. There is no reason
to believe that cross-examnation of the informant and of the
i nvestigating officers would have resulted in an acquittal. Al so,
conviction for the crines charged in the superseding indictnent
could have resulted in nuch nore severe sentence. Under these
circunst ances, the attorney's conduct in allow ng WI bourn to pl ead
guilty and to wai ve his confrontation rights was not professionally

unr easonabl e.



W I bourn al so asserts that his attorney rendered ineffective
assistance in failing to ensure that the district court nmade
findings resolving his objections to the PSR In the district
court, WIbourn conplained that his attorney did not object to the
district court's failure to make Rule 32 findings. In his
objections to the PSR, W]Ibourn conplained that the probation
officer's guideline calculation was based on conduct outside his
factual stipulation. One could not conclude fromthe stipulations,
W | bourn argued, that he manufactured or attenpted to nmanufacture
anphet am ne. Wl bourn also argued that consideration of the
rel evant conduct contravened the pl ea agreenent.

The probation officer responded that | aw enforcenent officers
connected with the North Texas Regional Drug Task Force and Drug
Enf orcenment Adm nistration were prepared to testify that WI bourn
was known to be a nethanphetam ne |aboratory operator and
di stributor. Wl bourn had stipulated that he was renting the
storage unit, that he was aware of the itens stored there, and that
he intended to use those itens to nmanufacture anphetam ne. The

storage | ocker contained a conpl ete disassenbl ed net hanphet am ne/

anphetam ne | aboratory, together wth necessary precursor
chem cal s. According to the probation officer, "[a] forensic
chem st for the DEA | aboratory in Dallas, Texas, [was] wlling to

testify at sentencing that the | arge anount of chem cals recovered
in this case represent a nmulti-mllion dollar nethanphetam ne/
anphet am ne drug operation.” The probation officer concl uded that

there was sufficient evidence to support a conclusion that WI bourn



was attenpting to manufacture, and successfully manufactured,
anphet am ne and phenyl acet one.

Al t hough the district court did not expressly resol ve di sputed
factual issues that nay have been raised by WI bourn's objection,
its comments at sentencing inply that the court had accepted the
probation officer's reasoning. Under the circunstances, it was not
unreasonabl e for the defense attorney to fail to rai se an objection
tothe district court's failure to nake express findi ngs under Rul e
32. W Il bourn has not shown that he was prejudiced by his
attorney's failure to raise this objection

W | bourn al so contends that his attorney rendered i neffective
assi stance by failing to object to the destruction of the physi cal
evidence prior to the rearraignnent. As was previously discussed,
this issue is raised for the first tinme on appeal. As the
exi stence of the contraband could have been established through
circunstantial evidence, WI bourn was not prejudiced by the failure
of the attorney to object to the destruction of the evidence.

W | bourn next argues, also for the first tine on appeal, that
his attorney failed to ensure that WI bourn would be credited for
time served while released on bond pendi ng sentencing. But, as we
expl ain below, Wl bourn was not entitled to this credit. WMoreover,
his attorney did raise the issue at sentencing, only to have it
overruled by the district court in light of the Suprenme Court's

ruling in United States v. WIlson, 503 U S. 329, , 112 S. ¢

1351, 1354-55 (1992) (holding 18 U.S.C. §& 3585(b) does not

authorize a district court to conpute credit for tinme spent in
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official detention at sentencing, but that credit awards are to be
made by the Attorney Ceneral, through the Bureau of Prisons, after
sentencing). The defense attorney's representationin this regard
was not professionally unreasonable.

Wl bourn finally urges that his attorney was ineffective in
failing to "assert law to hold court to plea agreenent.”
Wl bourn's attorney did object to the PSR on the ground that
consideration of the relevant conduct contravened the plea
agreenent, and he reiterated this argunent at sentencing. The
attorney's representation in this regard was not professionally
unr easonabl e.

D. Credit for Tine Served Wil e Rel eased on Bond

W bourn contends that he was entitled to a credit of 11
mont hs against his sentence for tine he served while he was
rel eased on bond prior to sentencing. As this claimchall enges the
execution of WIbourn's sentence, it nust be brought under 28

US C 8§ 2241. United States v. Ceto, 956 F.2d 83, 84 (5th Cr.

1992). Section 2241 petitions nust be filed in the district where

the petitioner is incarcerated. United States v. Gabor, 905 F. 2d

76, 78 (5th Gr. 1990). As WIlbourn is incarcerated at El Reno,
Ckl ahoma, the district court sitting in Texas did not have
jurisdiction and properly denied this claim Even though
Wl bourn's claim appears to have no chance of success on the
merits, see Ceto, 956 F.2d at 84-85 (pre-trial release was not
"official detention" for purposes of 8§ 3585(b)), we hereby nodify

the district court's rulingtoreflect that it is without prejudice
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as to this issue.

E. Gover nnent Mbtion to Suppl enent the Record

The governnent has noved this court to supplenent the record
wth WIbourn's conditions of release. The notion is denied as
unnecessary.

AFFI RVED.
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